
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 
 SAN ANTONIO DIVISION 
 
United States of America, 

 
§   

 Plaintiff, §   
 §   
 v. §  No. SA-18-CR-390-OLG-1 
 §   
Robert Mikell Ussery (1) §  
 Defendant. §   

 
GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO  

DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE 
 

The United States of America, by and through the undersigned Assistant United States 

Attorneys, responds to Robert Mikell Ussery’s Motion to Suppress Evidence (ECF No. 159). 

I. Procedural History 

The Government charged Ussery by complaint on May 22, 2018. ECF No.1. On June 6, 

2018, the Government indicted Ussery for two counts of Felon in Possession of a Firearm in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). ECF No. 15. On January 8, 2020 the Government filed a 

superseding indictment to include “Rehaif” language, and again charged Ussery with two 

counts of Felon in Possession of a Firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). ECF No. 113. 

On June 30, 2021, Ussery filed his present Motion to Suppress Evidence. ECF. No. 159.  

II. Factual Summary 

On November 5, 2017, the parishioners of Sutherland Springs First Baptist Church were 

victims of a mass shooting during which a gunman shot and killed 26 people. On March 5, 

2018, Ussery and Jodie Mann arrived at the church and began to yell at the church’s Pastor, 

Frank Pomeroy, and Rod Green claiming that the shooting was a hoax. Ussery yelled that “the 

people” will hang the Pastor for perpetrating this hoax. Pastor Pomeroy told Ussery to leave the 

property and Ussery refused. Ussery’s aggressive behavior and refusal to leave resulted in a call 
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to emergency dispatch.  

At around 11:46 a.m. the Wilson County Sherriff’s dispatched Deputy Frank Ashton 

and Deputy Rodney Dennis, who were traveling in separate vehicles, to Sutherland Springs 

First Baptist Church. At the same time, Wilson County Constable Curtis Fowler, who also 

heard the dispatch concerning the disturbance, headed to the church. Constable Fowler arrived 

first. He observed Pastor Pomeroy outside the church along with Rod Green. Pastor Pomeroy 

informed Constable Fowler that he had told Ussery to leave church property and that Ussery 

was trespassing.  

Constable Fowler then saw Ussery, who had parked his vehicle nearby, exit the vehicle, 

and he then watched as Ussery walked directly back onto church property. Constable Fowler 

informed Ussery that he was committing criminal trespass and told him to get off the church 

property. Ussery continued to approach and to speak aggressively to Pastor Pomeroy, ignoring 

Constable Fowler’s directions and warnings that Ussery was trespassing.  

Meanwhile, Deputy Dennis arrived and approached the church to join Constable Fowler. 

Both Deputy Dennis and Constable Fowler attempted to put distance between Ussery and 

Pastor Pomeroy to calm the situation. Ussery backed away from the officers toward his truck, 

while still yelling toward the officers and Pastor Pomeroy. Deputy Ashton arrived and placed 

Ussery under arrest for criminal trespass.  

While Deputy Ashton placed Ussery under arrest, Ussery began to pull away and the 

officers told him to stop resisting. Once Ashton arrested Ussery, Deputy Dennis and Constable 

Fowler patted Ussery down, during which Deputy Dennis located and removed a holster and a 

Go-Pro Camera from Ussery’s person. The officers placed Ussery in a Sheriff Deputy’s vehicle 

and transported him to the Wilson County Jail, where they charged Ussery with criminal 
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trespass and resisting arrest.  

Immediately after the arrest, Wilson County Sherriff’s Officers interviewed Pastor 

Pomeroy and Rod Green to get witness statements regarding the criminal trespass. Pastor 

Pomeroy reported that he told Ussery and Jodie Mann, who accompanied him during the events 

described above and is a co-defendant in this case, to leave the property. In response, Pastor 

Pomeroy stated that Ussery cussed at him and that Ussery threatened to have Pastor Pomeroy 

hung from a tree and urinated on. Pastor Pomeroy said that once Constable Fowler arrived on 

scene, Ussery taunted him by stepping on and off the property.  Based on these facts and 

circumstances on March 5, 2018, Deputy Ashton filed charges with the Wilson County 

Attorney’s Office for the following violations of the Texas Penal Code: (1) Criminal Trespass 

in violation of 30.05(d)(1); (2) Resisting Arrest Search or Transport in violation of 38.03(a), 

and (3) Terroristic Threat Causing Fear of Imminent Serious Bodily Injury in violation of 22.07 

(c). Ex. 1, 2, 3.  

On March 27, 2018, Investigator Stephen Moore sought a search warrant to review 

footage from the Go-Pro cameras collected from both Ussery and his companion, Jodie Mann. 

This search warrant sought evidence of the criminal trespass committed on March 5. Wilson 

County Judge Russell Wilson signed this search warrant on March 27, 2018, at 9:30 a.m. Upon 

obtaining a signed search warrant, Investigator Moore took the two Go Pros along with a signed 

copy of the Search Warrant to Mike Allen in the Criminal Investigations Division with the 

Bexar County Sherriff’s Office. Deputy Allen reviewed the search warrant and extracted the 

video content from both Go-Pro devices provided by Investigator Moore.  

While reviewing the footage extracted from Ussery’s Go-Pro for evidence of the 

criminal trespass, Investigator Moore observed that Ussery was in possession of a firearm. The 
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footage included events that occurred before the Sheriff’s Deputies arrived when Ussery was in 

his vehicle between his initial confrontation with Pastor Pomeroy and the subsequent 

confrontation with law enforcement officers. The footage showed Ussery getting into his white 

pickup truck, removing a pistol from the right side of his body, and placing the pistol under the 

floorboard. After reviewing this footage, Investigator Moore contacted Texas Rangers, who 

then contacted an Agent with the Bureau of Alcohol Tobacco Firearms and Explosives (ATF).  

On April 14, 2018, ATF Special Agent (SA) O’Connell reviewed the Go-Pro videos 

provided by Investigator Moore that showed Ussery handling a black and silver pistol, 

removing it from the right side of his body, and placing it under the floorboard of his pickup 

truck. The audio from this portion of the Go Pro recorded Ussery saying to Mann, the “gun is 

under the mat, so that’s yours.” On April 18, 2018, SA O’Connell conducted aerial surveillance 

at Ussery’s known residence. During this surveillance she observed a white male matching 

Ussery’s description following the aircraft with a camera and a white Chevy pickup truck 

matching Ussery’s vehicle from the events of March 5, 2018.   

After confirming that Ussery was convicted of a felony, Burglary of a Vehicle, SA 

O’Connell sought a federal search warrant for evidence of Felon in Possession in violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 922(g) for Robert Ussery’s known residence on Payne Lane.   

III. Argument  

In his Motion, Ussery asserts that the evidence collected from his Go-Pro and his known 

residence located on Payne Lane is fruit of the poisonous tree. His first assertion is that 

probable cause did not exist for his arrest on March 5, 2018, and thus evidence collected and 

subsequently searched because of his arrest is fruit of the poisonous tree.  His second assertion 

is that any probable cause listed in the affidavit supporting the search warrant executed on May 
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23, 2018, is legally insufficient because it contains evidence from the illegal arrest on March 5.  

A. Ussery’s Motion Fails to Provide Any Factual Basis for the Relief Sought 

Except in a few “well defined” situations, the movant generally bears the burden of 

production and persuasion in a motion to suppress.  United States v. De La Fuente, 548 F.2d 

528, 533 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 932 (1977).  For example, “upon an initial 

showing of certain facts by a defendant,” such as when “a defendant produces evidence that he 

was arrested or subjected to a search without a warrant, the burden shifts to the government to 

justify the warrantless arrest or search.”  Id.  

Ussery does not describe the factual basis for his Motion.  Instead, he relies upon 

conclusory statements, such as “USSERY maintains that the affidavit supporting the [search 

warrant issued on] May 23, 2021 is, as a matter of law, insufficient on it face, and further, that 

some recitations contained therein are the proverbial Fruit of the Poisonous Tree.”  Def. Mot. 6.  

Ussery does not specify which of the “recitations” are tainted and he does not describe what 

about the warrant to search his residence, obtained on May 23, 2018, or the prior warrant for 

Go-Pro images obtained on March 27, 2018, is insufficient. Accordingly, he failed to carry his 

burden as to the search warrants.  Similarly, Ussery has not alleged any facts that would call 

into question his initial arrest on state-law trespassing charges on March 5, 2018. In fact, Ussery 

admits that he was “present” at the church and in a confrontation with Pastor Pomeroy. Id. at 4-

5. Therefore, Ussery’s challenge as to his initial arrest on March 5, 2018, also fails to meet 

basic threshold requirements.  Nevertheless, the Government provides additional arguments and 

facts demonstrating that the arrest and both search warrants were supported by probable cause.   
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B. Probable Cause Existed to Arrest Ussery on March 5 

Probable cause exists for arrest without a warrant when law enforcement officers have 

knowledge of facts and reasonably trustworthy information that would lead a reasonably 

cautious person to believe an offense has been committed by the suspect. Brinegar v. United 

States, 338 U.S. 160, 175 (1949).  Facts are viewed in accordance with “the factual and 

practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal 

technicians, act.” Id.  

On March 5, 2018, Ussery approached Pastor Pomeroy on the property of the First 

Baptist Church of Sutherland Springs, where Ussery then made false claims that the mass 

shooting at that church was a hoax. Pastor Pomeroy told Ussery to leave the property and that 

Ussery was trespassing. Ussery refused and continued to aggressively confront Pastor Pomeroy 

and Rod Green. When Constable Curtis Fowler responded to the scene, he witnessed Ussery on 

Church property. Deputy Dennis and Deputy Ashton responded to the scene and learned from 

Constable Fowler and Pastor Pomeroy that Ussery had been told to leave and that he refused.  

At the time of arrest, Deputy Ashton had reasonable and trustworthy information 

provided by witnesses, including law enforcement officers, that Ussery committed a criminal 

trespass in violation of Texas Penal Code § 30.05(d)(1) and he had his own first-hand 

observations that Ussery had resisted arrest in violation of Texas Penal Code § 38.03(a). For 

example, a criminal trespass occurs in Texas when a Defendant intentionally and knowingly 

remains on the property of another, when the Defendant had notice to depart.  The information 

presented to Deputy Ashton by Constable Fowler and Deputy Dennis was sufficient probable 

cause to the make the arrest. 
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C. Probable Cause Existed for a Search Warrant of the Go-Pro 

“Probable cause exists when there are reasonably trustworthy facts which, given the 

totality of the circumstances, are sufficient to lead a prudent person to believe that the items 

sought constitute fruits, instrumentalities, or evidence of a crime.” Kohler v. Englade, 470 F.3d 

1104, 1109 (5th Cir. 2006). “Probable cause does not require proof beyond a reasonable doubt, 

but only a showing of the probability of criminal activity.” United States v. Daniel, 982 F.2d 

146, 151 (5th Cir. 1993).  

On March 27, 2018, Investigator Moore sought a search warrant for the Go-Pros 

collected from Ussery and Mann at the time of Ussery’s arrest for criminal trespass, resisting 

arrest, and terroristic threat on March 5, 2018. As a basis for concluding that there was a fair 

probability that the Go-Pros would contain evidence of the crimes, law enforcement had the 

body camera footage from Deputy Dennis, which showed Ussery wearing his Go-Pro camera 

strapped to his chest and Jodie Mann using her Go-Pro as a recording device. Additionally, the 

statements obtained from Pastor Pomeroy, Rod Green, Deputy Dennis, Deputy Ashton, and 

Constable Fowler about the events on March 5, 2018, substantiated that crimes were committed 

and a reasonable person could infer that the Go-Pros were recording footage showing those 

crimes. For example, the Go-Pro that Ussery wore would likely show Ussery’s location relative 

to the church and would likely have recorded any statement from Pastor Pomeroy or Rod Green 

instructing Ussery to leave the property.  It was reasonable to believe the recording devices 

worn by Mann and Ussery at the time of the offenses would have direct evidence of what 

occurred on March 5, 2018. Accordingly, on March 27, 2018, a Wilson County Judge reviewed 

the application for the search warrants, found probable cause, and issued the search warrant for 

the Go-Pros.  
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D. Probable Cause Existed for the Search Warrant for Payne Lane 

The totality of circumstance should be used to determine whether probable cause existed 

to issue a search warrant. Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983). To find probable cause, the 

magistrate judge need only find that there is a “fair probability” that the search will reveal 

“evidence of a crime.” Id. at 238.  Even if a warrant is deemed to lack probable cause after a 

search warrant has been executed, the fruits of the search may still be admissible under the 

“good-faith exception” if “the executing officer’s reliance on the warrant was objectively 

reasonable and made in good faith.” United States v. Woerner, 709 F.3d 527, 533 (5th Cir. 

2013); see also United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 920-21 (1984) (holding that suppression is 

not required if police reasonably rely on a search warrant issued by a neutral magistrate, even 

though the warrant is later found defective). When considering a motion to suppress, courts 

generally engage in a two-step review, asking: first, “whether the good-faith exception to the 

exclusionary rule applies;” and second, “whether probable cause supported the warrant.”  

United States v. Satterwhite, 980 F.2d 317, 320 (5th Cir. 1992) (citations omitted).  If the good-

faith exception applies, courts should deny the motion to suppress and need not conduct the 

additional probable cause analysis.  See id. (explaining that, except where novel questions of 

law arise, courts typically do not need to address the probable cause issue if the good-faith 

exception applies).  

Ussery made no attempt in his Motion to address the good-faith exception and none of 

the facts described in his motion indicate that the good-faith exception should not apply.   

Second, law enforcement officers did have probable cause to support a search warrant of 

Ussery’s residence. Ussery was arrested on March 5, 2018, for criminal trespass and resisting 

arrest. During his arrest officers located an empty pistol holster on the right side of his body. 
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After his arrest, officers mirandized and interviewed Ussery. During his interview Ussery stated 

that he wore a gun while on his property to shoot rattlesnakes on his farm. On March 27, 2018, 

Investigator Moore obtained a search warrant on the Go-Pros worn by Ussery and Mann on 

March 5, 2018.  Moore reviewed video footage from the March 5, 2018, incident showing 

Ussery in possession of a black and silver semiautomatic pistol, which Ussery hid under the 

floormat of his white truck. An Agent with ATF reviewed the Go-Pro footage and conducted 

surveillance at Ussery’s known residence on Payne Lane, which was the same address that the 

Agent had confirmed was associated with utility records under Ussery’s name. The Agent 

observed Ussery in the front yard along with the white truck described at the scene on March 5, 

2018. The Agent confirmed Ussery was previously convicted of a felony offense for Burglary 

of a Vehicle in 1984. The Agent included this information in the search warrant application 

submitted on May 21, 2018, to search Ussery’s residence and vehicle for weapons, including 

the weapon seen in Ussery’s possession in the Go Pro footage. This information, assessed based 

on the totality of circumstances, demonstrated a fair probability that law enforcement would 

locate the weapon seen in Ussery’s possession on March 5 or other weapons that he used to 

shoot snakes while on his property.  

IV. Evidentiary Hearing 

Ussery’s motion does not raise any factual disputes. Accordingly, the Government 

contends that the Court is within its discretion not to conduct a live hearing. See United States v. 

Harrelson, 705 F.2d 733, 737 (5th Cir. 1983) (an “evidentiary hearing is required on a motion 

to suppress only when necessary to receive evidence on an issue of fact”). Should the Court 
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conduct an evidentiary hearing, the Government will offer its Exhibits 1-3, and the testimony of 

1-3 of the witnesses.   

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, the United States prays that the Court 

DENY the Defendant’s Motion to Suppress Evidence (ECF No. 159). 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

ASHLEY C. HOFF 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

 
/S/  
KARINA O’DANIEL 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Texas Bar # 24083327 
601 NW Loop 410, Suite 600 
San Antonio, Texas 78216 
Tel: (210) 384-7100 
 
 
      
Kelly G. Stephenson 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Texas Bar # 24079823 
601 NW Loop 410, Suite 600 
San Antonio, Texas 78216 
Tel: (210) 384-7100 

Case 5:18-cr-00390-OLG   Document 162   Filed 07/13/21   Page 10 of 12



 

11 
 

 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I certify that I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing instrument to be 
electronically filed with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF System, which will transmit 
notification of such filing to counsel of record to counsel for the Defendant. 

 
/s/  

 Kelly G. Stephenson 
 Assistant United States Attorney
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 
 SAN ANTONIO DIVISION 
 
United States of America, 

 
§   

 Plaintiff, §   
 §   
 v. §  No. SA-18-CR-00390-OLG-1 
 §   
Robert Mikell Ussery (1) §  
 Defendant. §   

 
ORDER 

 

Having considered the Defendant’s Motion, the Governments Response, and after 

considering the entire record, the Defendant’s Motion to Suppress Evidence (ECF No.159) is 

DENIED. 

SIGNED AND ENTERED this  , 2021. 
 

 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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